IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WESTLAKE HEALTH CARE CENTER,

Defendant-Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

FILED
JUL 17 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

DR. LEEVIL, LLC, Plaintiff-Respondent.

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division Six
Court of Appeal No. B266931
Superior Court, County of Ventura Case No.: 56-2015-00465793-CU-UDVTA
The Honorable Vincent J. O'Neill, Jr.

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

*Teri T. Pham, Esq. (SBN 193383)

tpham@enensteinlaw.com
Courtney M. Havens, Esq. (SBN 301116)
chavens@enensteinlaw.com

ENENSTEIN RIBAKOFF LAVIÑA & PHAM

12121 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 600 Los Angeles, California 90025 Telephone: (310) 899-2070

ISSUES ON WHICH APPEAL HAS BEEN GRANTED

Pursuant to the California Supreme Court's June 14, 2017 Order, the issue to be briefed and argued is: "Does Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a require a purchaser of real property at a foreclosure sale to perfect title before serving a three-day notice to quit on the occupant of the property?"

II.

INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a Judgment entered in an unlawful detainer action concerning a 99-bed skilled nursing facility located in Thousand Oaks, California (the "Premises"). Defendant-Petitioner and Appellant Westlake Health Care Center ("Petitioner") is the former tenant and former licensed operator of that facility.

In early 2015, Respondent Dr. Leevil, LLC ("Respondent"), the holder of a loan secured by the Premises, foreclosed on the Premises and subsequently purchased the Premises at a non-judicial foreclosure sale on February 19, 2015. The next day, on February 20, 2015, before the trustee's deed upon sale was even recorded, Respondent purported to serve a three-day notice to quit on Petitioner, as well as, on "ALL OTHER OCCUPANTS" (the "Notice to Quit"). Respondent thereafter filed the underlying unlawful detainer action alleging that it was entitled to possession of the Premises based on that Notice to Quit.

Only one issue from that unlawful detainer action is at issue in this appeal: "Does Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a require a purchaser of real property at a foreclosure sale to perfect title before serving a three-day notice to quit on the occupant of the property?"

Code of Procedure section 1161a states in pertinent part:

(b) In any of the following cases, a person who holds over and continues in possession of a manufactured home, mobilehome, floating home, or real property after a three-day written notice to quit the property has been served upon the person, or if there is a subtenant in actual occupation of the premises, also upon such subtenant, as prescribed in Section 1162, may be removed therefrom as prescribed in this chapter:

[...]

(3) Where the property has been sold in accordance with Section 2924 of the Civil Code, under a power of sale contained in a deed of trust executed by such person, or a person under whom such person claims, and the title under the sale has been duly perfected." (Emphasis added).

Petitioner argued below that the Complaint for unlawful detainer was fatally defective as title had not been "duly perfected" as required by Code of Civil Procedure¹ section 1161a at the time the Notice to Quit was allegedly served. The Notice to Quit was therefore premature and invalid. Because California law requires strict compliance with the statutory requirements for an unlawful detainer action, Respondent's failure to perfect title before service of the Notice to Quit unlawful detainer action rendered the complaint for unlawful detainer improper.

The trial court rejected Petitioner's argument and determined that pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure 2924h, which governs procedures at foreclosure sales, title was perfected as of the date of the foreclosure sale on February 19, 2017. After stipulation by the parties on several remaining issues, Judgment was entered on July 22, 2015.

¹ Unless otherwise stated, all statutory references herein will refer to the California statutes.

Petitioner appealed the trial court's decision, citing, among other issues, that the Notice to Quit was premature and invalid. After oral argument and while the matter was under submission in the Court of Appeal, this Court ordered publication of the matter entitled *U.S. Financial, L.P. v. McLitus*, 6 Cal. App. 5th Supp. 1 (Cal. App. Dep't Super. Ct. 2016), as amended (Dec. 2, 2016) ("McLitus"). McLitus, which was factually similar to the case at hand, held that duly perfected title under Code of Procedure 1161a is a prerequisite to service of the three day notice to quit in an unlawful detainer action.

Despite requesting supplemental briefing by the parties regarding the issue in light of the *McLitus* decision, the Appellate Court ultimately disagreed with the *McLitus* decision, holding that Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a does not require that title be recorded before a notice to quit is served, but rather "Because title was perfected before the complaint was filed, the unlawful detainer proceedings were valid. To conclude otherwise, we would have to rewrite section 1161a, subdivision (b)(3) to add the requirement that title be perfected before the notice to quit is served." *Dr. Leevil, LLC v. Westlake Health Care Center*, 9 Cal. App. 5th 450, 457 (2017) ("*Dr. Leevil*").

This Court thereafter granted review. As discussed below, a plain reading of Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a and application of California's policy of strict compliance in order to obtain the benefits of the summary unlawful detainer remedy requires title be perfected <u>before</u> the service of a three-day notice to quit. Petitioner therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse the lower courts' rulings on this issue and direct the trial court to enter Judgment in favor of Petitioner.

III.

SUMMARY OF FACTS

Prior to entry of Judgment in this action, Petitioner was the licensed operator and tenant of a 99-bed residential care facility located on the Premises. (2AA at T49 402 ¶2.²) Petitioner operated the facility under a licensed granted by the State of California. (2AA at T49 402 ¶2.)

Until February 2015, the Premises was owned by nonparty Westlake Village Property L.P. ("Westlake L.P."). On March 12, 2002, Petitioner entered into a written Lease with Westlake L.P. pursuant to which Petitioner leased the Premises from Westlake L.P. for a term of 20 years. (2AA at T37 301-307.)

In 2008, the property owner, Westlake L.P., obtained a loan from TomatoBank, N.A. (the "Bank") to refinance the property. (1AA at T23 135-37.) The loan thereafter matured and Westlake L.P. defaulted.

In 2014, the Bank sold the loan to Respondent Dr. Leevil, LLC. (1AA at T2 149-52.) Respondent subsequently foreclosed on the loan via the power of sale contained in the Deed of Trust. (1AA at T2 11-12.) On February 19, 2015, Respondent proceeded with a non-judicial foreclosure sale and purchased the Premises via a trustee's deed upon sale. (1AA at T2 11-12.) The trustee's deed upon sale was not recorded until 6 days later on February 25, 2015. (1AA at T2 11.)

On February 20, 2015, the day after the foreclosure sale but <u>before</u> the trustee's deed was officially recorded, Respondent purported to serve a three-

² Citations to Appellant's Appendix shall be in the following format: ([Volume]AA at T[tab number] [page number].)

day notice to quit on Petitioner ("Notice to Quit"). (1AA at T23 154-57.) The Notice to Quit was signed by "Ronald Richards, Esq." without any identification of Respondent whatsoever or any indication of in what capacity Mr. Richards was acting. (*Id.*)

Respondent thereafter commenced the underlying unlawful detainer action on April 1, 2015. (1AA at T2 9.)

IV.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 1, 2015, Respondent filed a Complaint for Unlawful Detainer after Completion of Power of Sale from a Foreclosure by a Trustee's Deed ("Complaint"). (1AA at T2 9.) On the caption page of the Complaint, Respondent cites "CCP §§ 1161/1161a(b)(3)" and states that it is an "Action Based on Code of Civil Procedure Section 1161a." (1AA at T2 11.)

The Complaint alleged that Respondent "acquired title on February 19, 2015 via a trustee's deed upon sale recorded on February 25, 2015. The trustee's deed upon sale granted, plaintiff a 100% ownership interest. Title has been duly perfected." (1AA at T2 11.)

After a demurrer, Petitioner filed its Answer on April 30, 2015. (1AA at T17 99.) The case was ultimately set for trial on July 15, 2015. (2AA at T36 289.) Pursuant to the trial court's order, on July 1, 2015 and July 2, 2015, Petitioner timely filed five motions *in limine*, including a Motion in Limine No. 1 for Judgment on the Pleadings.³ (1AA at T23 119; 1AA at T24 163;

³ "A motion for judgment on the pleadings may be made at any time either prior to the trial or at the trial itself." *Stoops* v. *Abbasi*, 100 Cal. App. 4th 644, 650 (2002) (citing *Ion Equip. Corp.* v. *Nelson*, 110 Cal. App. 3d 868, 877 (1980)); see also *Smify* v. *Citibank (South Dakota) N.A.*, 11 Cal. 4th 138, 145

1AA at T25 168; 1AA at T26 207; 1AA at T29 222.) The Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings argued that, among other issues, Respondent did not properly serve its Notice to Quit under California Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a(b)(3), as it had not perfected title at the time it served the Notice to Quit. (1AA at T29 222-23.) Respondent opposed the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings arguing that title was deemed perfected as of the date of the sale under section 2924h(3) because the trustees' deed upon sale was recorded within 15 days of the sale. (1AA at T32 235-36.)

On July 20, 2015, the trial court heard the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. The trial court ruled that the deed was "deemed recorded as a matter of law." (RT 59:7-17.)

The trial court immediately thereafter held a bench trial and summarily adjudicated the matter in favor of the Respondent. The remaining issues after the bench trial were resolved pursuant to stipulation, and Judgment was entered by the trial court in favor of Respondent.⁴ (RT 155:8-156:26.)

The Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed on July 21, 2015, and was entered onto the docket on July 22, 2015. (1AA at T1 1; 2AA at T45 354.) On September 16, 2015, Petitioner filed its notice of appeal to the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District ("Appellate Court"). (2AA at T46 358.) Petitioner filed its opening brief with the Appellate Court on April 12, 2016 and Respondent filed its brief on July 14, 2016. Oral argument before the Appellate

^{(1995).} As such, it is established that a motion for judgment on the pleadings ("MJOP") can also be made in limine. *Lucas* v. *County of Los Angeles*, 47 Cal. App. 4th 277, 284- 285 (1996). This is due to the fact that courts have inherent power to control litigation and conserve judicial resources through whatever procedural vehicle reaches that result. *Id*.

⁴ By stipulation of the parties, enforcement of the Judgment was stayed until September 14, 2015. (Id.)

Court was heard on November 9, 2016, and the matter was taken under submission.

On December 5, 2016, after Oral Argument, the Appellate Court ordered that the submission be vacated for further briefing. Specifically, the Court of Appeal requested "letter briefs on *U.S. Financial, L.P. etc., v. McLitus*, San Diego County Superior Court, Appeal Division (Case No. 37-2016-00201 1 16-CL-UD-CTL), ordered published by the California Supreme Court on December 2, 2016 (S237852)." (See Order Vacating Submission and Order For Supplemental Letter Briefs, dated December 5, 2016.) The parties subsequently submitted the requested letter briefs regarding *McLitus*. There was no further oral argument on the *McLitus* issue.

The Appellate Court issued its Order on March 7, 2017, affirming the judgment in favor of Respondents. *Dr. Leevil* at 457. On the issue of the validity of the Notice to Quit, the Appellate Court departed from the reasoning of the trial court, but nonetheless rejected the arguments raised by Petitioners on appeal and the decision by the *McLitus* court. The Appellate Court held that while perfected title is required prior to service of the complaint, perfected title is not required prior to service of a three-day notice to quit. *Dr. Leevil* at 456-57.

This Court granted Petitioner's Petition for Review on June 14, 2017, solely as to the issue of whether Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a requires a purchaser of real property at a foreclosure sale to perfect title before serving a three-day notice to quit on the occupant of the property.

V.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Summary Remedy Provided by the Unlawful Detainer Statutes Requires Strict Compliance

As a preliminary matter, it is well-established under California law that in order to take advantage of the summary remedy of unlawful detainer, a "landlord must demonstrate strict compliance with the statutory notice requirements contained in section 1161 et seq." Culver Ctr. Partners E. No. 1, L.P. v. Baja Fresh Westlake Vill., Inc., 185 Cal. App. 4th 744, 749 (2010) ("Culver Ctr. Partners") (denying unlawful detainer remedy where service of notice to quit was not proper even though defendant had actual notice); accord Borsuk v. Appellate Division of the Superior Court, 242 Cal. App. 4th 607, 609–10 fn. 1 (2015). "The remedy of unlawful detainer is a summary proceeding to determine the right to possession of real property. Since it is purely statutory in nature, it is essential that a party seeking the remedy bring himself clearly within the statute." Baugh v. Consumers Associates, Limited, 241 Cal. App. 2d 672, 674–75 (1966) citing Rankin v. Superior Court, 157 Cal. 189, 106 P. 718 (1910). Indeed, California law has long held that "forfeitures are not favored by the courts; every intendment and presumption is against the person seeking to enforce the forfeiture; statutes creating forfeitures must be strictly construed; and one who seeks the summary remedy of unlawful detainer allowed by the statute must bring himself clearly within its terms." Horton-Howard v. Payton, 44 Cal.App. 108, 112 (1919) citing Savings & L. Soc. v. McKoon, 120 Cal. 179 (1898); Opera House Ass'n v. Bert, 52 Cal. 471 (1877); Lacrabere v. West, 141 Cal. 554 (1904). Without adherence to the strict requirements of the unlawful detainer statutes, including Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a, a landlord's remedy is simply an ordinary suit for breach of contract, with all the according delays. Culver Ctr. Partners at 750.

Taking into account the requirement for strict compliance with the unlawful detainer statutes and strict construction of such statutes, as discussed below, Respondent's failure to record its trustee's deed upon sale prior to service of the Notice to Quit rendered the Notice to Quit invalid and the unlawful detainer complaint defective as a matter of law. The lower courts therefore erred in finding in favor of the Respondent on this issue, and the Judgment should be reversed.

B. Code of Civil Procedure Section 1161a Requires That Title Be Duly Perfected at the Time the Notice to Quit Is Served

Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a, the governing statute upon which Respondent based its unlawful detainer action and under which it served the Notice to Quit, provides in pertinent part:

- (b) In any of the following cases, a person who holds over and continues in possession of a manufactured home, mobilehome, floating home, or real property after a three-day written notice to quit the property has been served upon the person, or if there is a subtenant in actual occupation of the premises, also upon such subtenant, as prescribed in Section 1162, may be removed therefrom as prescribed in this chapter:
- (3) Where the property has been sold in accordance with Section 2924 of the Civil Code, under a power of sale contained in a deed of trust executed by such person, or a person under whom such person claims, and the title under the sale has been duly perfected.

Code of Civ. Proc. §1161a(b)(3) (emphasis added). Contrary to the ruling of the Appellate Court, requiring good record title prior to the service of the notice to quit is not "rewriting" section 1161a.

The statute is clear in the series of required events. <u>First</u>, the circumstances described in subsection 1161a(b)(3) must take place, i.e. the property must be sold pursuant to Section 2924h *and* title under the sale must

be duly perfected title. Second, the three day notice to quit must be validly served. Then, and only then, the new owner of the property may avail themselves of the unlawful detainer statutes in order to evict the holdover occupant. Indeed, the statute is clear that eviction may only occur where there has been a sale pursuant to section 2924h and title under the sale has been duly perfected. The sale and duly perfected title are required conditions before a holdover tenant can be evicted and notice to quit may be given.

Duly perfected title includes, but is not limited to, good record title. "[T]itle is duly perfected when all steps have been taken to make it perfect, i.e., to convey to the purchaser that which he has purchased, valid and good beyond all reasonable doubt, which includes good record title, but is not limited to good record title, as between the parties to the transaction. The term 'duly' implies that all of those elements necessary to a valid sale exist, else there would not be a sale at all." Bank of New York Mellon v. Preciado, 224 Cal. App. 4th Supp. 1, 9-10 (2013) (emphasis added) (citing Kessler v. Bridge, 161 Cal. App. 2d Supp. 837, 841 (1958)); accord Stephens, Partain & Cunningham v. Hollis, 196 Cal. App. 3d 948, 952–53 (1987).

The facts here are not disputed, and are a matter of judicial admission by Respondent. Respondent alleged in its Complaint that it purchased the property at the foreclosure sale on February 19, 2015, and that it served its Notice to Quit on February 20, 2015. (1AA at T2 12.) However, Respondent admitted in that same Complaint that title was not recorded until February 25, 2015. (1AA at T2 11.) Therefore, at the time Respondent purported to give its Notice to Quit, title had not been perfected, as it had not yet been recorded. The Notice to Quit was therefore defective and premature, and the unlawful detainer action was improper.

For these reasons, the Appellate Court's determination that 1161a only requires perfect title prior to filing of the complaint is incorrect. As the *McLitus* court explained, the strict requirement that title must be recorded prior to serving the Notice to Quit makes sense, as without good record title, a tenant would have no way of verifying who is the owner of record:

A defective notice cannot support an unlawful detainer judgment for possession. Respondent's interpretation, on the other hand, would suggest that a post-foreclosure plaintiff could routinely prematurely issue a three-day notice that includes legal and factual misstatements (e.g., that the purchaser has already duly perfected title when it had not yet done so). And as argued by Appellant, such a practice would practically prevent a defendant from effectively verifying the identity of the alleged purchaser of a property as a search of recorded documents would prove futile.

Absent a sale in accordance with Section 2924 of the Civil Code *and* a duly perfected title prior to the issuance of the notice, a post-foreclosure purchaser cannot avail itself of a summary unlawful detainer eviction proceeding. Respondent's prematurely issued notice was fatally defective, and the unlawful detainer judgment must be reversed.

McLitus, 211 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 151-52.

Indeed, under the Appellate Court's interpretation, a Notice to Quit could arguably be served even prior to the foreclosure sale itself, so long as it is prior to the service of the unlawful detainer complaint. Such a construction certainly cannot be what was intended by the legislature and violates the paramount principles under California law that unlawful detainer statutes are to be strictly complied with and strictly construed.

Without perfected title, the tenant cannot know whether or not the notice to quit is from the correct owner of the property, or to whom it should validly surrender possession or pay. This is particularly true here, as the Notice to Quit did not even identify the purported new owner of record.

Moreover, the notice period set forth in Respondent's Notice to Quit expired before Respondent's title had even been perfected. Petitioner therefore could not even verify the correct owner of the property in the county records in the time given.

As acknowledged by the Appellate Court, "[s]ervice of the notice to quit is an element of the [unlawful detainer] action that must be alleged in the complaint and proven at trial." *Dr. Leevil* at (citing *Borsuk v. Appellate Division of the Superior Court*, 242 Cal. App. 4th 607, 612-13 (2015)). Construing the statutes to require perfected title prior to service of a notice to quit would therefore be in accordance with the requirements that unlawful detainer statutes be strictly construed to avoid forfeiture. The *McLitus* decision should be affirmed and the Judgment in the underlying action should accordingly be reversed.

C. Section 2924h(c) Does Not Excuse Compliance With Section 1161a

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