# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### DR. LEEVIL, LLC

Plaintiff & Respondent,

VS.

#### WESTLAKE HEALTH CARE CENTER,

Defendant & Appellant.

SUPREME COURT

JAN 3 1 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX, APPEAL NO. B266931 ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF VENTURA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. 56-2015-00465793-CU-UD-VTA, HON. VINCENT O' NEILL

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Ronald N. Richards (SBN: 176246) \*
LAW OFFICES OF RONALD
RICHARDS & ASSOCIATES APC

### **INTRODUCTION**

This case is about a sophisticated, commercial tenant's creative attempts to transform the judicial process governing unlawful detainer lawsuits. Having lost possession of its skilled nursing facility after a foreclosure sale, defendant Westlake Health Care Center seeks to change the entire landscape governing the post-foreclosure, unlawful detainer process.

Unable to contest the merits of the case, Westlake's only defense to the unlawful detainer judgment on review is a purely procedural one. Westlake claims that plaintiff Dr. Leevil, LLC, as the new landlord that purchased the subject property at the foreclosure sale, was required to record the trustee's deed upon sale *before* Dr. Leevil served its three-day notice to quit on Westlake. The legislature, however, disagrees. The statute governing the three-day notice to quit merely requires perfection of title before the *removal* of the tenant. Just as an information or an administrative citation does not establish one's guilt or culpability, the mere issuance/service of a three-day notice to quit does not constitute the "removal" of the tenant. To the extent that Westlake seeks to export the statutory requirement for tenants' removal into the front-end of the unlawful detainer process, Westlake's fight is with the legislature, not with Dr. Leevil or this Court.

Westlake's arguments should be rejected to ensure that California's foreclosure process provides investors with an efficient legal mechanism to eject trespassers such as Westlake. Given the significant carrying costs associated with property ownership in California, allowing hold-over, trespassing tenants to hold a new owner's property hostage after the

foreclosure process – e.g., by insisting on a recorded deed before the three-day notice to quit is even served – could disrupt the nonjudicial foreclosure process. Westlake's arguments also hurt tenants by increasing their liability for hold-over damages, thus increasing the number of lawsuits classified as unlimited civil cases. In sum, setting aside the financial harm to investors and lenders, both tenants and the judicial system would suffer under the novel and more expensive approach to eviction advocated by Westlake.

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

#### A. The Parties to the Subject Lease

Appellant Westlake Health Care Center ("Westlake Corp.") was the tenant and licensed operator of a residential care, skilled nursing facility at the subject property. (2 AA T49, p. 402, ¶ 2.) Westlake Corp. leased its facility from its landlord, Westlake Village Property, L.P. ("Westlake L.P."), pursuant to a lease agreement dated March 12, 2002. (2 AA T37, pp. 301-307 [copy of lease]; p. 301 [identifying landlord and tenant].) The 20-year lease required monthly payment of \$67,000 for this commercial establishment. (2 AA T37, 301, ¶¶ 2 & 3.1.) The lease contains the following automatic subordination clause: "[t]his lease is and shall be subordinated to all existing and future liens and encumbrances against the Premises." (2 AA T37, p. 306, ¶ 21.6.)

The unusual feature of the lease was that the landlord and the tenant were owned and controlled by the same principals—Mrs. Jeoung Hie Lee and Mr. Il Hie Lee. (2 AA T37, p. 307; 2 AA T34, p. 276:6-9.) Therefore, the lease was drafted and entered into by and between the same principals as lessor and lessee.

#### B. The Underlying Commercial Loan Transaction

In 2008, Westlake L.P., the landlord, obtained a five-year loan from TomatoBank, N.A., that was secured by a deed of trust on the subject premises. (1 AA T25, pp. 184-186 [promissory note]; 1 AA T25, p. 188 [summarizing the loan].) The deed of trust was recorded six days after its execution. (1 AA T2, p. 12, ¶ 7.)

In 2013, in connection with an extension of Westlake L.P.'s loan with TomatoBank, the tenant, Westlake Corp., signed a subordination agreement. (1 AA T2, p. 15, ¶ C; 1 AA T25, pp. 188-196 [extension agreement].) This rendered the 2002 lease inferior to the deed of trust recorded in 2008 by TomatoBank in terms of lien priority, a point disputed by Westlake Corp. before review was granted.

# C. The Foreclosure Process Leading to This Unlawful Detainer Action

In 2014, after TomatoBank initiated a judicial foreclosure action to foreclose on its lien based on Westlake L.P.'s default, Dr. Leevil, LLC ("Dr. Leevil"), pursuant to an assignment, purchased the promissory note and the deed of trust associated with the loan. (1 AA T25, p. 199; pp. 198-201 [stipulation filed in the judicial foreclosure action].)

After the assignment by TomatoBank, Dr. Leevil ultimately elected to foreclose by non-judicial foreclosure based on the power-of-sale clause contained in the deed of trust. (1 AA T2, pp. 11-12, ¶¶1, 4.) To correlate the sequence of these events with the post-foreclosure events that are germane to this appeal, the following timeline identifies the key procedural history:

- February 19, 2015: The non-judicial foreclosure trustee's sale is conducted. Dr. Leevil acquires the property. (1 AA T2, pp. 11-12, ¶¶1, 4.)
- February 20, 2015: As the new owner, Dr. Leevil serves a three-day notice to quit on Westlake Corp. (1 AA T2, p. 12, ¶8; pp. 23-24 [notice to quit]; 1 AA T31, p. 232.)
- February 25, 2015: The trustee's deed upon sale is recorded. (1 AA T2, pp. 11-12, ¶¶1, 4.)
- April 1, 2015: Dr. Leevil files this unlawful detainer lawsuit. (1 AA T2, pp. 9-26.)

### D. Litigation of the Unlawful Detainer Action

#### 1. Trial Court Proceedings

In response to this lawsuit, Westlake Corp. filed a demurrer, contending that Dr. Leevil had no standing to prosecute this case. (1 AA T5, pp. 35-36.) After the filing of opposition (1 AA T9, pp. 69-77) and reply papers (1 AA T11, pp. 82-87), Westlake Corp.'s demurrer was overruled. (1 AA T16, p. 96; 1 AA T22, p. 117.)

Westlake Corp. answered the complaint, claiming that the notice to quit was prematurely served before Dr. Leevil duly perfected its title to the property. (1 AA T17, p. 103, ¶11.) Westlake Corp. later renewed the same argument in its motion for judgment on the pleadings. (1 AA T29, pp. 224-226.)

Having filed other motions that are not relevant to the narrow issue granted review, the parties proceeded to a bench trial. (2 AA T44, p. 352.) On the second day of the trial, the parties reached an agreement. Consistent with the parties' resolution, the court entered a judgment for possession in favor of Dr. Leevil. (2 AA T45, pp. 356-357.)

Westlake Corp. then filed its notice of appeal (2 AA T46, p. 358), followed by its request to stay judgment enforcement. (2 AA T47-50, pp. 360-410.) Dr. Leevil opposed the stay request. (2 AA T51, pp. 411-433.) After granting interim relief (2 AA T52, p. 434), the court reviewed supplemental evidence (2 AA T55-57, pp. 442-469) and denied the request to stay judgment enforcement pending the appeal. (2 AA T58-59, pp. 470-473.)

# 2. The Court of Appeal Rejects Westlake Corp.'s Attacks on the Judgment.

Westlake Corp. challenged the judgment on numerous grounds, claiming that Dr. Leevil could not invoke a contractual automatic subordination clause without being "bound" by a disputed non-disturbance clause in the lease. (AOB 3.) Westlake Corp. also argued that it was denied "sufficient notice and an opportunity to present evidence and argument" at trial. (*Ibid.*) Finally, as a side point, Westlake Corp. argued that Dr. Leevil was required to perfect its title before serving the three-day notice to quit. (AOB 25-27.)

The Court of Appeal unanimously rejected Westlake Corp.'s multifarious arguments. In rejecting the last point, the court pointed out that there was no contention "that the trustee's sale failed to comply with section 2924 of the Civil Code, or that Leevil failed to perfect title before Westlake [Corp.] was removed from the property." (Typed opn. 7.)

Disagreeing with a decision issued by the appellate division of the San Diego County Superior Court, the Court of Appeal reasoned that there was no statutory requirement to perfect title before serving the three-day notice itself. (*Id.* [questioning *U.S. Financial, L.P. v. McLitus* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th Supp. 1].) As for Westlake Corp.'s suggestion that it could not verify Dr. Leevil's ownership rights/status when the notice to quit was served, the Court of Appeal explained that Westlake Corp. "had more than five weeks between service of the notice to quit and filing of the unlawful detainer complaint to do so." (Typed opn. at pp. 7-8.)

#### 3. This Court Grants Limited Review.

Although Westlake Corp. challenged the Court of Appeal's decision on multiple grounds, this Court limited the scope of review as follows: "Does Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a require a purchaser of real property at a foreclosure sale to perfect title before serving a three-day notice to quit on the occupant of the property?" (Order, June 14, 2017.)

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

I. Westlake Corp.'s Arguments Are Based on Its Misconception of the Statutory Scheme Governing the Post-Foreclosure Unlawful Detainer Process.

# A. Statutory Regulation of the Foreclosure Process

"In California, the financing or refinancing of real property generally is accomplished by the use of a deed of trust." (*Orcilla v. Big Sur, Inc.* (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 982, 994.) "There are three parties to a deed of trust: (1) the trustor, who owns the property that is conveyed to (2) the

trustee as security for the obligation owed to (3) the beneficiary." (Aviel v. Ng (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 809, 816.) "The trustee holds a power of sale. If the debtor defaults on the loan, the beneficiary may demand that the trustee conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure sale." (Biancalana v. T.D. Service Co. (2013) 56 Cal.4th 807, 813.)

Civil Code sections 2924 through 2924k "provide a comprehensive framework for the regulation of a nonjudicial foreclosure sale pursuant to a power of sale contained in a deed of trust." (*Melendrez v. D & I Investment, Inc.* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1238, 1249.) Section 2924, for example, identifies some of the procedural requirements governing foreclosures in terms of the timing and the sequence of the steps taken prior to the foreclosure sale. (Civ. Code, § 2924, subd. (a)(1), (2) & (3).) Once the sale is conducted, "[t]he purchaser at a foreclosure sale takes title by a trustee's deed." (*Biancalana, supra,* 56 Cal.4th at p. 814.)

"The nonjudicial foreclosure system is designed to provide the lender-beneficiary with an inexpensive and efficient remedy against a defaulting borrower, while protecting the borrower from wrongful loss of the property and ensuring that a properly conducted sale is final between the parties and conclusive as to a bona fide purchaser." (*Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp.* (2016) 62 Cal.4th 919, 926.)

# B. The Intersection of the Statutory Schemes Governing Unlawful Detainer and Foreclosure Cases

The unlawful detainer statute at issue here provides in relevant text as follows:

In any of the following cases, a person who holds over and continues in possession of ... real property <u>after</u> a three—day written notice to quit the property has been served upon the person ... may be <u>removed</u> therefrom as prescribed in this chapter:

\* \* \* \*

(3) Where the property has been sold in accordance with Section 2924 of the Civil Code, under a power of sale contained in a deed of trust executed by such person, or a person under whom such person claims, and the title under the sale has been duly perfected.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 1161a, subd. (b) [emphasis added].)

"Code of Civil Procedure section 1161a makes the summary remedy of unlawful detainer available against persons holding over after the property has been sold under a power of sale in a deed of trust. Pursuant to this provision, the remedy is afforded where the property has been sold in accordance with section 2924 of the Civil [Code] and the title under the sale has been duly perfected." (Old Nat'l Fin. Servs. v. Seibert (1987) 194 Cal.App.3d 460, 464 [internal quotation marks and footnote omitted; brackets added].)

Granting the new property owner retroactive perfection of title, Civil Code section 2924h, subdivision (c), states as follows:

"For the purposes of this subdivision, the trustee's sale shall be deemed final upon the acceptance of the last and highest bid, and shall be deemed perfected as of 8 a.m. on the actual date of sale if the trustee's deed is recorded within 15 calendar days after the sale[.]"

As noted above, section 2924 is specifically referred to in section 1161a, subdivision (b)(3), rendering these statutory schemes intertwined.

# C. The Impact of Foreclosure on the Landlord-Tenant Relationship

"The foreclosure of a senior encumbrance will wipe out all subordinate liens, including leases." (Aviel, supra, 161 Cal.App.4th at p. 816.) Stated another way, a "lease which is subordinate to the deed of trust is extinguished by the foreclosure sale." (Dover Mobile Estates v. Fiber Form Products, Inc. (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 1494, 1498). "T]he relation between the purchaser [at the foreclosure] and tenant is that of owner and trespasser, until some agreement, express or implied, is made between them with reference to the occupation." (McDermott v. Burke (1860) 16 Cal. 580, 589 [brackets added].) Otherwise, "the tenant becomes a tenant at sufferance (holdover tenant). The relationship between the tenant and the purchaser is that of trespasser and owner, or the purchaser may treat the tenant as [a] tenant without right and maintain an action for possession." (10 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (4th ed. 2015) § 34:199 (hereafter "Miller & Starr").)

Applying these cases here, because the subject lease includes an automatic subordination clause (2 AA T37, p. 306, ¶ 21.6), Westlake Corp.'s lease was extinguished by the foreclosure sale. As the new owner, Dr. Leevil was entitled to evict Westlake Corp. As discussed below, the three-day notice to quit issued by Dr. Leevil was fully consistent with the

While Westlake Corp. has tried to challenge the Court of Appeal's determination of this point (PFR 14-22), given this Court's order limiting the scope of review, Westlake Corp. cannot challenge this point any more. (Order, June 14, 2017.)

law governing the post-foreclosure unlawful detainer action filed against Westlake Corp.

D. Westlake Corp.'s Entire Argument Is Based on the False Assumption That Dr. Leevil Failed to Perfect Its Title on Time.

There is no dispute that an unlawful detainer lawsuit requires the plaintiff to have some form of ownership interest in the subject property. The question, then, is whether Dr. Leevil obtained such an interest in order to evict Westlake Corp. While Westlake Corp. believes that Dr. Leevil did not perfect its trustee's deed upon sale before issuing the three-day notice to quit, Westlake Corp. is wrong. (OBOM 10.) Here's why.

The record shows that six days after the foreclosure sale was conducted on February 19, 2015, the trustee's deed upon sale was recorded; *i.e.*, on February 25. (1 AA T2, pp. 11-12, ¶¶1, 4 [complaint].) Because title was recorded within the statutory fifteen-day grace period under Civil Code section 2924h, subdivision (c), Dr. Leevil's title to the property was retroactively deemed perfected under this statute as of the date of the sale on February 19. Therefore, when the three-day notice was issued on February 20, Dr. Leevil was already the legal owner of the property. Because section 2924h authorizes retroactive perfection in this context, Westlake Corp.'s argument is flawed.

Westlake Corp., however, insists that section 2924h does not apply here because the retroactive perfection invoked by Dr. Leevil applies only "for the purposes of this subdivision"—meaning subdivision (c) of section 2924h is limited only to this statute, not to proceedings under Code of Civil

Procedure section 1161a. (OBOM 12-13.) The basic flaw in this argument is that Westlake Corp. seeks to divorce the two statutory schemes at issue here which are inextricably intertwined. The first statutory scheme governing the eviction process specifically refers to the second statutory scheme governing the foreclosure process. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 1161a, subd. (b)(3) [authorizing eviction where "the property has been sold in accordance with Section 2924 of the Civil Code, under a power of sale contained in a deed of trust executed by such person, or a person under whom such person claims, and the title under the sale has been duly perfected"].) Westlake Corp.'s argument disregards the basic principle of statutory construction that related statutes must be read together.

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